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Francisco Health Service System 

June 15, 2022 

 

 

  

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR 

San Francisco Health Service System 

 

Drupal Development, Support and Maintenance for the San 

Francisco Health Service System 

 

RFPQ#HSS2022.E2 

 

CONTACT: Patrick Chang (patrick.chang@sfgov.org); cc: 

michael.visconti@sfgov.org 

This Addendum is being issued to modify the requirements in the above-

referenced Request for Proposals (RFP) and to respond to questions and 

requests for clarification received by or before 12:00 PM Pacific Daylight 

Time on Friday, June 10, 2022 (the “Deadline for RFP Questions”). Please 

review the terms of the RFP and this Addendum carefully. If there are any 

inconsistencies between the RFP and the terms of this Addendum, then 

the terms of this Addendum shall prevail. Section references below are to 

the RFP and are provided for convenience of reference only. 

 

Please note that an additional addendum will be released by or before 

close of business on Friday, June 17, 2022 with responses to additional 

questions received by the Deadline for RFP Questions.  
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Questions & Answers 

 

1. Are hosting and migration part of this project? 

 

HSS Response: 

No. Hosting www.sfhss.org is not a part of this RFP, and there are no plans for 

site migration at this time. 

 

 

2. What is HSS's current annual spend on CMS software, hosting, 

maintenance, and support? 

 

HSS Response: 

HSS has spent $60,180 on www.sfhss.org to-date during FY2021-2022. 

 

 

3. How much did HSS spend on the previous website? 

 

HSS Response: 

Since February 2018, HSS has spent $510,835 on development, maintenance, 

and support for www.sfhss.org. 

 

 

4. How is the content of the website managed today?  

 

HSS Response: 
Each division of HSS has staff who contribute to content development on their 

respective focus areas for the Website, including creating, posting, and editing 

pages and uploading content. The images posted to the Website are primarily 

managed by HSS’ Communications Manager and Graphic Designer. The vendor 

would collaborate with HSS staff on best practices to optimize UI/UX. 

 

When technical issues arise, HSS staff will first troubleshoot internally, then 

escalate to our Enterprise Systems & Analytics (ESA) unit needed. If HSS is still 

http://www.sfhss.org/
http://www.sfhss.org/
http://www.sfhss.org/
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unable to resolve the technical issue, a ticket would be submitted to the Website 

vendor. 

 
 

5. What is the expectation for existing content for this project? Will HSS 

subject matter experts (SME) be available throughout the project to support 

the develop of content? 

 

HSS Response: 

Yes. HSS staff and SMEs will develop content. However, HSS is open to proposed 

solutions for our formatting our existing content. Additionally, HSS expects that 

existing content may need to be modified and revised in order to fit any new 

design and programming solutions, including those recommended by the vendor. 

 

 

6. Would the cost calculator will allow users to compare multiple benefits? 

 

HSS Response: 

Yes. The cost calculator should allow users to compare all benefits options they 

are eligible for based on their membership group or circumstance (e.g., active 

employee or retiree, Medicare or non-Medicare, ZIP code, union membership, 

number of dependents, etc.). 

 
 
7. Please provide clarification for what work is to be covered by the 277 hours 

or $50,000 budget set aside for Digital Accessibility Standard Compliance. 

 

HSS Response: 

As described in Sec. 8.A.x, the amounts correspond to all work executed by the 

selected vendor to ensure the Website meets the City’s Digital Accessibility 

Standard Compliance, including, but not limited to, assessment, planning, design, 

development, and implementation. Proposals with values that exceed those 

amounts will include an itemized list of new developments, updates and 

modifications necessary to meet the Digital Accessibility Standard. 
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8. Is document accessibility a requirement? 

 

HSS Response: 

Yes. For more information on accessibility requirements, please refer to the City’s 

Digital Accessibility and Inclusion Standard (November 18, 2021): 

https://sf.gov/reports/november-2021/digital-accessibility-and-inclusion-

standard#standard-details-accessibility-requirements 

 
 

9. What types of user research does HSS conduct?  

 

HSS Response: 

Website visitors are primarily HSS members comprised of active employees and 

retirees. HSS employs the following user research methodologies: 

▪ Google Analytics: HSS tracks key metrics in order to analyze the number of 

visitors to the Website, including analyzing pages with the highest user traffic, 

and heat maps indicating where on a page users are most often clicking. 

 

▪ Member Services Data: HSS reviews notes from our customer service calls 

for the most frequently asked questions. Analysis findings support strategic 

planning to determine the types and extent of content additions and updates. 

 

▪ Vendor Recommendations: HSS consults with the Website vendor for best 

practices on how to present information on the website. 

 

 

10. What areas on the website cause the most friction or challenges with your 

end-users? 

 

HSS Response: 

Based on analysis of Website traffic and user behavior, visitors may have trouble 

finding the information they are seeking in an easy and efficient manner. 

Generally, users may opt to call Member Services as an initial step in-lieu of 

searching for the information and/or resource on the Website. 

 
 

https://sf.gov/reports/november-2021/digital-accessibility-and-inclusion-standard#standard-details-accessibility-requirements
https://sf.gov/reports/november-2021/digital-accessibility-and-inclusion-standard#standard-details-accessibility-requirements


 

ADDENDUM NO. 1 

RFP for Drupal Development, Support and Maintenance for the San Francisco 

Health Service System 

 

Page 5 of 8  |  HSS RFPQ#HSS2022.E2 Drupal Development, Support & Maintenance RFP – Addendum 1   |   June 15, 2022 

11. Regarding the secure email function enabling end-users to respond to and 

provide sensitive information to HSS, would it be a single-use email?  

 

HSS Response: 

Yes, it would be a single-use email. 

 
 

12. Drupal releases may not include completely stable modules upon the 

release of Drupal core. Is the SFHHS team amenable to Respondent’s 

recommendations for delaying upgrades to Drupal 10 (D10) until required 

core and modules are stable? 

 

HSS Response: 

Yes. HSS has recently completed an upgrade to D9 and is open to delaying any 

upgrades to D10. There is no current business imperative that is requiring the D10 

upgrade. 

 

 

13. Which of your modules are compatible with Drupal 10? 

 

HSS Response: 

HSS will be able to provide more information on Drupal 10 compatibility after its 

planned release which is currently estimated for December 2022 but may change. 

 

 

14. Can you provide a list of modules, or an estimation of custom modules, 

including the number of pages / nodes? 

 

HSS Response: 

See the attached Appendix A for a list of modules currently used by the Website.  

 

 
The remainder of this page intentionally left blank. 
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15. Are the Paragraphs or Layout Builder modules enabled on the website? If 

so, which types of pages use this for content management? 

 

 

HSS Response: 

Layout builder is not currently utilized for the Website. See Appendix B for more 

information on the types of Paragraph types used by the Website.  

 

 

16. Can the SFHSS team share additional details related to the Technology 

Ecosystem in terms of the underlying technologies and tools used? 

 

HSS Response: 

The Website site utilizes Drupal 9 and is hosted by Pantheon. In general, its 

architecture is relatively simple and does not leverage many technologies at this 

time. Our current Drupal developer is working on a health care cost estimator tool 

for Members that will utilize MySQL. 

 

 

17. Can you identify all third-party tools that you are expecting vendors to 

integrate with, both for the “required” and “requested” elements of the 

project scope? 

 

HSS Response: 

HSS only expects integration with the Websites use of Oracle’s Identity and 

Access Management system for user authentication. There are no plans for 

additional third-party tools. 

 

 

18. Is content on the website already tagged with the membership group 

options described in A.v.? 

 

HSS Response: 

No. The Website does not currently use any tags for the membership group. 

However, HSS utilizes an existing taxonomy for PDF materials uploaded to the 

Website.  
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19. Is it acceptable to provide cost estimates in ranges? 

 

HSS Response: 

No, as the proposals must be evaluated by a panel, we wish to avoid the panel 

making assumptions regarding actual cost. However, proposals may provide 

individual cost estimates but include factors that may increase the cost estimate 

so long as those factors include descriptions for how and/or when they would or 

could apply. 

 

 

20. Is a Canadian-based company permitted to apply for this work if will are 

also able to become an Approved City Supplier? 

 

HSS Response: 

Yes. In accordance with the City Service Agreement, Section 13.4.1 (Use of 

Confidential Information), “[a]ny work using, or sharing, or storage of, City’s Data 

outside the United States is subject to prior written authorization by the City.” This 

prior written authorization will not be unreasonably withheld but will require an 

assessment by the City of the selected vendor’s data security policies and 

procedures. It may also require assessment by the City’s Risk Management 

department and may require higher levels of insurance (Article 5). 

 

However, SFHSS strongly advises beginning the process for becoming an 

Approved City Supplier in advance of the announcement of the highest ranked 

respondent to the RFP. This process is highly likely take longer than the ten (10) 

days required under the Minimum Qualifications to become an Approved City 

Supplier. A delay in certification as an Approved City Supplier will prevent SFHSS 

from executing a contract with a respondent. If that delay materially affects the 

proposed schedule for any part of the scope of work, it will result in SFHSS 

rejecting the proposal of the unapproved supplier (or yet-to-be-approved supplier) 

and according to the terms for the RFP, SFHSS will suspend contract negotiations 

with the highest ranked respondent that is unapproved/yet-to-be-approved as an 

Approved City Supplier and begin contract negotiations with the second highest 

ranked respondent to the RFP. 
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21. Please share contact details of the list of active (Local Business Enterprise) 

LBE's for collaboration 

 

HSS Response: 

Please refer to RFP Section 7: Contract Monitoring Division, LBE Participation 

Requirement And Good Faith Outreach Requirement for more information on the 

City’s Contract Monitoring Division’s (CMD) and LBE requirements. 

 

As of the issue date for this RFP, forty-six (46) Vendors, are listed as certified 

LBEs for Computer: Web Design and Maintenance through 

https://sfgov.org/cmd/directory-certified-lbes.  

 

 

22. We are a certified LBE firm and will be submitting as a prime bidder. Please 

confirm that as an LBE, we must work with at least one (1) other LBE taking 

20% of final contract value and cannot bid for the full value of the contract 

on our own without any subcontractors. 

 

HSS Response: 

Yes, a certified Micro-LBE or Small-LBE firm that is submitting a proposal in 

response to this RFP must subcontract with at least one other LBE firm for at 

minimum twenty percent (20%) of the final contract value. Please be advised that 

the final contract value may be less than the current budgeted amount and as 

such, SFHSS and the Contract Monitoring Division (CMD) will closely monitor and 

require periodic reporting on LBE participation to ensure that by the term of the 

agreement, the LBE participation requirement will be met. 

 

 

23. Is the project expected to be performed onsite or can it be performed from a 

remote location? 

 

HSS Response: 

The project is expected to be performed remotely. 

https://sfgov.org/cmd/directory-certified-lbes


Appendix A: Modules Used by www.sfhss.org













0 Back to site = Manage * Shortcuts .1. mcolendge \:, Rebuild Cache 

® I Content m Structure � Appearance 1\- Extend , Configuration J,1 People ,h Reports O Help 

Paragraphs types 

Home,. Administration,. S1ruc1ure 

OfiP.hkijl,1·'30 

ICON LABEL 

Accordion 

Accordion Item 

MACHINE NAME DESCRlmON 

accordion Use Accordion 10 presem information in an unlimited number of expanding/collapsing sections. 

accordion_item You probably won"t ever use this directly - it represents one item in the accordion paragraph. 

Anchored Sections anchored_sectlons Use Anchored Sections to create anchored sidebar links 

Block block 

Card card 

cta_banners 

Custom Text 

Did You Know did_you_know 

hero 

Image image 

Image Collection image_colleclion 

Labeled Resource labeled_resource 

Use Block 10 place block views like Upcoming Events. 

A C.1rdhas an image, some text, and sometimes a call to action. Cards are typically slacked nex1 to or on top of other cards. 

Use this paragraph type for full-width banners encouraging the user lo take aclion. 

Use Custom Text for a paragraph tha1 comains only a block of full-html text. 

Use this paragraph for "Did you know" callouts and action links. 

Use Hero to create hero banners. For pages with the linked navigation widget sidebar with no images, you will still need to create a hero with a tille. You will just not use image. 

Use 1he Image for a full-width image with an optional cap11on. 

The lnMge Collection is used for galleries or carousels. 

Use Labeled Resource to add a File Resource that you can label, overriding the default file name. If you would like to add multiple labeled resources, please use 1he Labeled Resources component. 

Labeled Resources labeled_resources Use Labeled Resources to add a group of Resources. This component allows you 10 override the displayed name of the resource wi1hou1 changing 1he actual Resource's name. 

Multi-column multi_column Use multi column for putting two, three, or four items side by side 

Quote quote Use !his paragraph for a block quote with attribution 

Rela1ed Content related_content Use Related Content to seleCI specific items to be shown in a "Related Content" block. 

Rela1ed Resources related_resources Use Rel,ued Resources specifically to curate a list of related Resource items. 

Square Bullon action_links Use Square Buuons to create iext link boxes displayed in a grid 

Step-By-Step Item step_by_step_item You won't use this directly - It repre5ents one Item in a Srep-By-Step paragraph 

Step By Step step_by_step srep By Step is used for a list of shon instructions 

Video video Use Video to embed You Tube and SFGovTV videos. 

Webinar webinar Webinar Card 

Webinar Grid webinar_grid Grid of webinars 

OPERATIONS 

"'"''' .. ,.. ' . ) 
Manage fields : T) 

�age� 

( Manage fields : T) 
( Manage fields : T) 

�ge� 

( Manage fields : T) 
( Manage fields : T) 

�ge� 

( Manage fields T) 
( Manage fields T) 

�ge� 

Manage fields : T) 

� g e �  

Manage fields T) 

Manage fields T) 
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Appendix B: Paragraphs Types
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